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[HIGH C O U R T m vr.s'i R VLIA.*] 

nihiiMAl, MUTUAL LIFE ASSURANCE 1 

SOCIETY LIMITED 
I >l.l l.\l>V\T. 

? Al'I'KI.I.AXT ; 

" I 
vv 

T H E PRODUCERS AND CITIZENS CO 
OPERATIVE ASSURANCE COMPANY 
OF AUSTRALIA LIMITED. . . . I 

PLAINTIFF, 

ON APPEAL PROM THE SUPREME COl H I OF 
sui'ill AUSTRALIA. 

Defamation Vicarious responsibility Principal and agent Matt* 

si,ni,i, i Published by menl or canva mpany I. 

company Jor standi f oj ag* ni. 

The appellant, an assurance oompany, ai all material times employed R. 

us « ennv nsser anil iiecnt undei an ai_'rcemen1. one ol the trims ol which pro-

\ I,le,i " Tiini i he.ment will not in any oiroumstanoes whatsoever use language 

or write anything respecting an> person or institution which may have the 

effecl of reflecting upon the oharaoter, integrity or conduct of such person or 

institution, or which may tend to bring the same into disrepute or discredit.'' 

The agent, while attempting to obtain assurance business, made defamatory 

statements concerning the respondent, another assurance company. In an 

aotion for Blander by the respondent, 

llihl. l,y Oavan Duffy C. J., Rich, Steribeand Dixon J J. (Ecattimd McT, 

JJ, dissenting), thai 1'.. in performing these services for the appellant, was not 

anting independently, i>ut as a representative of the appellant company, which 

accordingly must be considered as conducting the negotiation in his person, and 

ttutt the appellant was therefore liable for the slanders uttered hy him. 

Decision oi the Supreme Oourl et South Australia (Murray C.J.): Producers 

anil Ciii-., ns< 'o-f/iiiuiir, Aasuranci < , of Australia Lid. v. Colonial Mutual Life 

L M U T O s. ,,,, U,l.. (l'.t.'ll) S.A.S.i:. 244, affirmed. 

I 

1981. 

\. 

Or). •'-

s\ D 

Gavan Jmtfv 
I .1 . Rich. 

Starke, nixon, 
Evatt and 

McTiernan JJ. 
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H. C. OF A. A P P E A L from the Supreme Court of South Australia. 

^J The Producers and Citizens Co-operative Assurance Co. of Aus-

COLOOTAL tralia Limited brought an action for slander against the Colonial 

LIFE Mutual Life Assurance Society and Herbert Charles Ridley claiming 

SOCIETY"8* £3,000 damages and an injunction to restrain the defendants and 
LTD- the servants or agents of the defendant Company from publishing 

PRODUCERS or further publishing the words complained of or any similar words 
AND CITIZENS 

Co- or any libels or slanders concerning the plaintiff. 
ASSURANCE ^e plaintiff was a company carrying on the business of an 

Co. OF assurance company in the States of X e w South Wales and of South 
AUSTRALIA r J 

LTD. Australia. The defendant Company carried on the business of an 
assurance company in the States of Victoria and of South Australia. 

It was alleged in the statement of claim that the defendant Ridley 

was at all material times a canvasser and agent employed in South 

Australia by the defendant Company, and that on various dates 

during the period from August to November 1930 the defendant 

Ridley, as the servant and agent of and during and in the course 

of his employment by the defendant Company, falsely and maliciously 

spoke and published of the plaintiff and of the plaintiff in the way 

of its trade or business as an assurance company to various persons 

named in the statement of claim words imputing, in effect, that the 

plaintiff Company was in an insolvent condition. Evidence was 

given that the alleged slanders were spoken by the defendant Ridley 

to persons w h o m he was endeavouring to induce to take out life 

insurance policies with the defendant Company at a time when the 

agreement between Ridley and the defendant Company was still in 

force. 

From the answers to interrogatories made by the defendant 

Company it appeared that the defendant Ridley was acting under 

the terms of an agreement made between him and the defendant 

Company. The terms of this agreement were as follows :—" (1) 

That the agent will not in any circumstances whatsoever use language 

or write anything respecting any person or institution which may 

have the effect of reflecting upon the character, integrity or conduct 

of such person or institution, or which may tend to bring the same 

into disrepute or discredit. That the agent will not, directly or 

indirectly pledge the credit of the Society for anything whatsoever 
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withoul express written authority signed by the Resident Secretarv. H- c- OF A-
1931 

(•1) 'I'll.it t In- agent will pnv in full to the Society all moneys received ^^J 
l»v liim mi its behali within forty-eighl hours of receipt, and will COLOSIAL 

renda ,, detailed Btatemenl of such receipts. (3) That the agent i.,,, 

will never pay n premium (oi portion of a premium) for a policy-holder * SOCIETY 

excepl thai policy-holder be a member of his own family. (4) That LT" 

any advances made to the agenl a1 any time against commissions Pnonri -
AMI CITIZBKS 

to be earned, constitute a debt by the agenl to the Society which <•,, 
the Society may call upon him to pay at any time, and which the v'̂ ',',;̂ -!. 
agenl undertakes to pay when culled upon so to do. (5) That all "o. °' 

deterred commissions OT bonuses or other remuneration hereinafter LTD. 

agreed to be paid by I be Society tol be agenl shall cease to I"- payable 

Immediately <>u this agreement being terminated from any cause 

whatsoever. (6) Thai all moneys due under this agreemenl are 

payable in the capital city of the St.it,- or Dominion in wbicb bhe 

agent is Located. That no suit al law or in equitj againsl I be Society 

relating to this agreemenl shall be rnaintainable until fourteen 

days have expired after service on the Reaideni Secretary of the 

Socict v lor such State or Dominion of a written statemenl giving 

particulars and amount of claim againsl the Society. (7) That the 

duties of the agenl under this agreemenl may be performed either 

1>V his clerks or servants or by himself personally, and n<>i bing herein 

shall he construed to prevent the agent from engaging in anv other 

I nisi i less or occupation during the continuance of his agency, provided 

that during the continuance of the agency the agenl shall nol 

directly or indirectly aol for anv other life assurance or accident 

insurance society or conipanv. (8) That this agreement, or any part 

thereof, mav he terminated by cither part \ giving seven days' 

notice in writing, And these articles further witness that in 

pursuance of this agreement, and in consideration of the covenants 

on the pari of the agent hereinbefore contained, the Society doth 

hereby covenant and agree to pay to the agent such sum or sums 

to which be may be from time to time entitled in accordance with 

the scales of commission on hack hereof, on proposals bearing his 

signature as introducing agent, such pavnient to be held to include 

and cover all charges and expenses tor postage, or any other account 

whatever." On the hack of the agreement were set out the scales 

http://St.it
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H. C. OF A. 0f commission for " ordinary" business, namely, life insurance 
1931. business, and for " accident " business. 

COLONIAL Ridley had been either an agent, representative or employee of 

" LIFE1, tlie plaintiff Company from 1921 until August 1929, when he was 
ASOCIETYCE dismissed by the plaintiff Company. Later he procured the above-

LTD- mentioned agency agreement dated 20th November 1930 with the 

PRODUCERS defendant Company. 

Co- The action was tried without a jury, and Murray C.J., who 

SssrafscE trie<l t^ie acti°n» decided that the defendant Company, by the 

Co. OF mouth of Ridley, published three of the slanders alleged, imputing 

LTD. insolvency to the plaintiff Company in or about the months of 

September and November 1930, and judgment was entered for 

£1,000 damages against him and the defendant Company: Producers 

and Citizens Co-operative Assurance Co. of Australia Ltd. V. Colonial 

Mutual Life Assurance Society Ltd. (1). 

Ridley did not appeal against this judgment, but the defendant 

Company now appealed against it to the High Court. 

Thomson K.C. (with him E. L. Stevens), for the appellant. In 

this case no special damage was proved. Express malice on the part 

of Ridley should not have been attributed to the defendant Company. 

Exemplary damages should not have been given. Ridley was 

not a servant of the Company but an independent agent. The 

liability of a principal to third parties for the acts of his representa­

tive arises only if the relation of master and servant exists between 

employer and employee, and this depends on the right of control; 

and upon the act being within the scope of the employment. There 

is also a class of case where a principle is liable for the acts of his 

agent who is not his servant, but this exists only where the cause 

of action arises ex contractu. The basis of this obligation is a holding 

out, or is a development of the principle that he who gets the benefit 

must bear the burden. In law, a person who is working for another but 

not as his servant is treated as an independent contractor and, except in 

special cases, the law does not impose a liability in tort upon that other 

person. [Counsel referred to Colonial Mutual Life Assurance Society 

v. McDonald (2); Crichton v. Noll (3); Performing Right Society Ltd. 

(1) (1931) S.A.S.R. 244. Africa), not vet reported. 
(2) (1931) E D.L. (S. 0. of South (3) (1929) S.A.S.R. 34G. 
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v. Mitchell and Booket (Palms de Dance) Ltd. (1); Hawpt v. Haupt H- c- "¥ A 

1931 
(2): Suilltt v. Henlocl '''>); SteeZ v. South-Eastem Railway Co. (4); t^J 
/,',,,/,< .. /.'union unil Smth Western Railv'a t/ (5) | .1. //. H'tlidcCo. C'OLOSIAI. 

MuTC VI. 

v. 11,-/ Ifriam Shipping Agency and Lighteiui/t Co ((',) • Story on 
Agency '.'th ed., p. 556, note (|). par. 4540; Cleri and LindseU on *^'( J'*^.

L 

/',„/-. 8th ed.. p. ST: Salmond o„ Torts, 7th ed.. p. 137; Harley LT"-

v. Sar<7< nl (7) ; Lloyd v. Urace Smith & Co. (8) ; Barwick v. English PBODI I I 

./,,//,/ N/,„•/.- Bank (9) . Houldsworth v. C'?7// o/* Glasgow- Bank (10). ' 

\ to i he measure ol damages counsel referred to Mutchx. Sleeman, 
l i v e 

v\, I. 

(II): Odqers on tioeJ and Slander, 5th ed. p. 392 ; and Sleeman v. 
1 Al 81 RAJ u 

.1/"/,/, (12).] 
[DIXON .1. referred to Herald and Weekly Times Ltd •• McGregor 

(13).] 

Cleland K.C. (with him A'. 0. Hicks), Eor tbe respondent. The 

written agreement does nol profess to set out tbe whole of tbe contracl 

hetween Ridley and the defendant C o m p a n y : so it is not necessary 

to go into the quest ion of lav raised. Responsibility of the principal 

for the acts of his agent does not depend entirely on the |>o\\,-r of 

cut rol. 

| DIXON .!. referred to Monaghan v. Taylor (14). 

[EVATT J. referred to Citizens' Life Assurance Co. v. Brown (15).] 

Thomson K.C, in reply. 

('nr. adv. cult. 

The follow ing written judgments were delivered:— 

liuw DUFFY CJ. AND STARKE J. This was an action for 

slander wherein judgment has been entered for the plaintiff, the 

Producers and Citizens Co-operative Assurance Co. of Australia 

Ltd., for £1,000 damages. An appeal has heen brought to this Court 

(1) (1924) 1 K.K. 762. L911) 2 Kit. 489; 11912) A.C. 
1929) S.A.L.R. 39a 716. 

(3) (1865) I I". A B, 570j 119 K.K. (9) (1867) K.K. 2 Ex. 259. 
209 (10) (1880) 5 App. Cas. 317. 
(4) (1855) 16 aB. 650 j 139E.R. 876. (11) (1929) 29 S.R. .X.s.W.) 125. 

1849)20 I...I. Ex •'.->. (12) (1929) 2 A.1...I. 403. 
1927) Ac. 686. (13) (1928) -ll V.K.K. 254, 

Ti (1907) 7 S.R. (X.s.W.i Til. at p. (14) | 1886) 2 T K.K. 246, 0$o. 
Tl.', [15) (1904) A.V. 423. 

Dec 22. 
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H. c. or A. by the defendant, the Colonial Mutual Life Assurance Society 

v_̂ _; Ltd. The question for determination is whether the defendant 

COLONIAL is liable for defamatory statements made by one Charles Ridley. 

LIFE It is undisputed that Ridley was employed by the defendant to secure 

SOCIETY
 E ProPosa^s f°r insurance for it; he is what is known as a canvasser : 

LTD- his business was to visit members of the public and persuade them, 

PRODUCERS in the usual manner, by arguments and statements, to effect insur-

Co- ances with the defendant. H e had a written agreement with the 

4ssrm«rcE defendant fixing the scale of his commission on business obtained, 

Co. OF ancl providing that he would " not in any circumstances whatsoever 
AUSTRALIA r a J 

LTD. use language or write anything respecting any person or institution 
•Gavan Duffy which m a y have the effect of reflecting upon the character, integrity 

starke 3. or conduct of such person or institution, or which m a y tend to 

bring the same into disrepute or discredit." But he did not observe 

this stipulation, and made defamatory statements of and concerning 

the plaintiff, for which the defendant has been held responsible. It 

was said that the defendant reserved to itself no power of controlling 

or directing Ridley in the execution of the work he was employed 

to do or of dismissing him for disobedience of orders : in short, that 

Ridley was an agent of the defendant in the nature of an independent 

contractor, and not the servant of the defendant for whose tort in 

the course of his employment the defendant would be responsible. 

The nature of Ridley's employment, however, gave the defendant 

a good deal more power of controlling and directing his action than 

was conceded by the argument addressed to us. Nothing in the agree­

ment or the position of the parties denied the right of the plaintiff 

to control and direct Ridley when, where and w h o m he should 

canvass. In our opinion the judgment of the Judicial Committee in 

Citizens' Life Assurance Co. v. Brown (1) really concludes the present 

case. But if it does not, still we apprehend that one is liable for 

another's tortious act " if he expressly directs him to do it or if he 

employs that other person as his agent and the act complained of 

is within the scope of the agent's authority." It is not necessary 

that the particular act should have been authorized : it is enough 

that the agent should have been put in a position to do the class 

of acts complained of (Barwick v. English Joint Stock Bank (2); 

(1) (1904) A.C. 423. (2) (1867) L.R, 2 Ex. 259. 
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Lloyd v. Grace Smith <t- Co. (1)). And if an unlawful act done bv H- c- OFA-
1931. 

U agenl be within the Bcope of his authority, it is immaterial that ^ J 
the principal directed the agent not to do it. (Cf. Limpusx. London C O L O S M X 

General Omnibus Co. (2).) The class of acts which Ridley was 

employed to do necessarily involved t be use of arguments and state- SOCIETY 

ments for the purpose of persuading the public to effect policies of L ™ 

insurance with the defendant, and m pursuing that purpose he was P 
A N D ' I : 

authorized to speak, and in fact spoke, with the voice of the defendant. 
Conseipiintlv the defendant is liable for defamatory B\ -'IXCE 

made by Ridley in the course of his canvass, though contrary to ( 

its direction. '-TI'-

The appeal should be dismiss,-,!. Duffy 
i i 

RICH J. I have read the judgmenl oi mj brother Dixon 

agree w it h it. 

Dixon J. Before Murray C.J., from whose judgmenl this appeal 

is brought, the respondent, a life insurance company, recovered 

Erom the appellant, another life insurance oompany, £1,000damaj 

in respect of three slanders found to have 1K-.II published of and 

concerning the respondent in the wav of I U bu withoul 

justification, bj an "agent " of bhe appellant in the nuns,- of Ins 

agency. Uthough the appellant complained of the amount of the 

damages awarded, it did mil appear that the assessment haii 

proceeded upon anv erroneous principle, and the judgment must 

stand unless the remaining ground of the appeal is well founded. 

namelv, that the appellant is not v Icariouslv liable for the defamatory 

statements published by the "agent." 

The slanders were uttered in the course of attempting to induce 

persons who had insured with the respondent to make proposals 

for life insurance with the appellant on occasions when the 

•"agent" interviewed these persons "during," as the appellant's 

admission runs, "the course of carrying out the terms of'" his 

written agreement with the appellant, ln the written agreement 

he is called '"the agent." and the appellant Company agrees to 

pay to him on proposals, bearing his signature as introducing 

(1) (1912) A.r., at r. "•a.', [(2) (1862) 1 H. * CL 526 ; 158 E.R. 993. 

http://1k-.ii
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H. c OF A. agent, commission at specified rates in respect of completed and 

Ĵ _J accepted business. His duties are not defined, but the agreement 

COLONIAL expressly allows him to perform them either by his clerks and 

LIFE" servants or personally. It provides that he m a y engage in any 

SOCIETY E otner business or occupation during the continuance of the agency, 
LTI)- except that he may not directly or indirectly act for any other life 
V. 

PRODUCERS or accident insurance company. It contemplates the receipt by 

Co- * him of moneys on behalf of the appellant, and stipulates for prompt 

ASSURANCE payment over and a statement of the receipts. It expressly prohibits 

Co. OF hijn fr0m using language which mav reflect upon the character or 
AUSTRALIA ° ° ° 

LTD. conduct of any person or institution, or tend to bring it into disrepute 
Dixon J. or discredit. 

Little evidence was given of the relations which in fact subsisted 

between him and the appellant in the actual conduct of his agency; 

and, I think, no sufficient reason appears for supposing that the 

appellant assumed such a control over the manner in which he 

executed his work as to constitute him its servant. In m y opinion, 

the liability of a master for the torts committed by his servant in 

the course of his employment is not imposed upon the appellant by 

the agency agreement, but I do not think that it follows that the 

appellant incurs no responsibility for the defamation published by 

the " agent " in the course of his attempts to obtain proposals. 

In most cases in which a tort is committed in the course of 

the performance of work for the benefit of another person, he 

cannot be vicariously responsible if the actual tortfeasor is not his 

servant and he has not directly authorized the doing of the act 

w7hich amounts to a tort. The work, although done at his request 

and for his benefit, is considered as the independent- function of the 

person who undertakes it, and not as something which the person 

obtaining the benefit does by his representative standing in his 

place and, therefore, identified with him for the purpose of liability 

arising in the course of its performance. The independent contractor 

carries out his work, not as a representative but as a principal. 

But a difficulty arises when the function entrusted is that of represent­

ing the person who requests its performance in a transaction with 

others, so that the very service to be performed consists in standing 

in his place and assuming to act in his right and not in an independent 
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capacity. In this very case the "agent" has authority to obtain 

proposals for and on behalf of the appellant; and he has, I have 

no douht. ant hority to accept premiums. When a proposal is made 

and a premium paid to him, the Company then and there receives 

i hem. because it has put him in its place for the purpose. This 

does not mean that he mav conclude a contract of insurance which 

hinds t he ( ompany. It may be, and probably is, outside his province 

to e-<> beyond soliciting and obtaining proposals and receiving 

premiums; bu1 I think that in performing thesi services for the 

Companv, he does not act independently, but as a representative 

,,l the Company, which accordingly must he considered a- itself 

conduct ing the negotiation in his person. The rule which m 

liability upon a master for the wrongs of his s,-i\ani committed in 

the course of his employment is commonly regarded as part ,,t the 

law of agency : Indeed, in our case law the terms principal and 

agent are employed more often than not although the matter in 

hand arises upon the relation of master and servant. I'm there is 

I believe, no case which distinctly decides that a principal is liable 

generally for wrongful acts which lie did not directij authorize. 

committed in the course of carrying out his agency by an agenl 

who is not the principal's servant or partner, except, perhaps, in 

some special relations, such as solicitor and client, and then within 

limitations. A learned writer who is disposed to impugn the COUTSe 

thai authority has taken in widening the liability for the wrongs 

of others, concludes a discussion of the responsibility arising from 

agency with the statement: "Principals have I n held liable in 

cases substantially of contract. Principals have heen held liable in 

eases of tort where the agent was also a servant. Principals have 

heen held liable for the wrongs of their agents which thev told 

them to commit. But. fortunately, there seems to be no occasion 

in which a mere agent has been held to have had ' implied authority ' 

to commit wrongs or to he negligent. The danger that such a 

proposition may he laid down is nevertheless imminent " (Dr. Batij. 

Vicarious Liability, at p. 11. a work criticised by Sir F. Pollock, 32 

Lnc Quarterly Review (1916), p. 226. See alao Salmond, Law of Torts, 

7th ed., oh. U.. sec. 2d. par. 1 ; Holmes. Common Due. pp. 229-233. 

and Collided Legal Papers, suh " Agency," at pp. 101-109). 

H. C OF A. 

1931. 

• "I ,'NIAL 

MUTUAL 

LIKE 
BAXC1 
KTY 

LTD. 
r. 

PRODI -
\M, CITIZENS 

OPERA1IV I 

\--i BIS, r. 
(',, 

A I -THALIA 

LTD. 

Dixun J. 

YOl. Xl.VI. 
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H. c. OF A. Some of the difficulties of the subject arise from the many senses 
1931 
v^_J in which the word " agent " is employed. " N o word is more 

COLONIAL commonly and constantly abused than the word ' agent.' A person 

LIFE may be spoken of as an ' agent' and no doubt in the popular sense 

SOCIETY °^ ̂ ne wor (l m a y properly be said to be an ' agent,' although when 
LTD- it is attempted to suggest that he is an ' agent' under such circum-

FRODUCEHS stances as create the legal obligations attaching to agency that use 
AND CITIZENS 

CO- of the word is only misleading " (per Lord Herschell in Kennedy v. 
ASSCRANCE ^e T raff ord (I)). Unfortunately, too, the expressions "for," 

Co. OF >< o n behalf of!> « f o r t h e benefit of » a n d e v e n « authorize " are 
AUSTRALIA 

LTD. often used in relation to services which, although done for the 
Dixon J. advantage of a person who requests them, involve no representation. 

If the view be right which I have already expressed, that the 

" agent " represented the Company in soliciting proposals so that 

he was acting in right of the Company with its authority, it follows 

that the Company in confiding to his judgment, within the limits 

of relevance and of reasonableness, the choice of inducements and 

arguments, authorized him on its behalf to address to prospective 

proponents such observations as appeared to him appropriate. The 

undertaking contained in his contract not to disparage other institu­

tions is not a limitation of his authority but a promise as to the 

manner of its exercise. In these circumstances, I do not think it 

is any extension of principle to hold the Company liable for the 

slanders which he thought proper to include in his apparatus of 

persuasion. 

The wrong committed arose from the mistaken or erroneous 

manner in which the actual authority committed to him w7as exer­

cised when acting as a true agent representing his principal in dealing 

with third persons. 

I do not think a distinction can be maintained between breaches 

of duty towards third persons with w h o m the agent is authorized 

to deal and breaches of duty towards strangers, committed in exer­

cising that authority. If what he does is done as the representative 

of his principal, it cannot matter, apart from questions of estoppel 

and of apparent as opposed to real authority, whether the injury 

which it inflicts is a wrong to one rather than another person. 

The appeal should be dismissed. 

(1) (1897) A.C. 180, at p. 188. 
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Bv vn .1. The appeUant is an a ssurance companv long established H- c- or A-
1931 

in Australia. The respondent Company was also engaged in the ^ r J 
busine oi h e a rarance. Tin- Supreme Courl ot South Australia COLOHIAL 

(Murray C.J.) decided that tin- appellant, by the mouth of one Ridley, 

published tine,- slanders imputing insolvency to the respondent SOCIETY*1 

Company, one to A. E. Post and 0. F. 1'ost about the month of Lru' 

September 1930 the tecond to J. If. Lehmann about November PBODUCI 
\ N I> ( ITI 

1930 an,I th,- third to Iv \Y. Pearson aboul November 1930. A> to , ,. 
Ridley's personal liabUity tin-re is no dispute on this appeal. H e v!.!,1',̂ /' 

uttered the three slanders to the persons mentioned, and he has not , ' 
1 A, si r. u 

appealed againsl the judgment cut,-red lor £1,000 damages against 
him and the appellant Conipanv. The action was tried without BvattJ. 

•• jury-

There is little dispute as to the main la, is. Th,- evidence shows 

thai lor a period of several months in 1930 Ridley was engaged in 

a systematic attempt to seduce policy holders oi the plaintiff Company 

away irom it. It was in three instances onlj (Post, Pearson an,I 

Lehmann) that actionable slanders wen- found t,, hav,- been 

published. Imt ii is important to understand the drcumstancee 

iiiuler which these publications were made. 

Ridley ha,I been either an agent, representative or employee of 

the plaintiff Company from 1921 until Augusl 1929. liming part 

of I hat time be "wrote hnsiness " in t he Stat,- of South Australia. 

in the Eudunda district with one I,. 'I'. Duldig, and in the Murray 

Bridge district witb our ,1. ll. Lehmann. 

In August 1929 the plaintiff Company dismissed Ridley. Ridley 

had heen collecting or receiving moneys on the Company's account. 

W h e n he was cross-examined aboul these transactions during the 

course of the present trial he declined to answer on the grounds 

that the answers mighl tend to incriminate him. But the letter 

•of August .'lid. 1929, which was written by Ridley to the plaintiff 

at the time of his dismissal, admits thai he had withheld nionev> 

received by him on its account. That his action was dishonest 

appears certain. He gave as security for the payment of the 

moneys a promissory note indorsed by a person named Dovle. 

Doyle was a barman in a hotel at Wagga. Xew South Wales. When 

'he promissory note became due and Ridley did not meet it. Dovle 
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H. c. OF A. ha(-j conveniently disappeared. Ridley was not long in finding an 

\^b opportunity of wreaking his vengeance upon the plaintiff Company 

COLONIAL for its treatment of him. 

LIFE"' H e procured an agency agreement from the defendant Company. 
A ! * ^ f ^ E H e did not inform it that he had been representing the plaintiff 

LTD- Company. H e started his agency work for the defendant in New 

PRODUCERS South Wales. In July 1930 he came to South Australia. It was 

Co-L natural that the Eudunda district should again attract his attentions. 

ASICT.^CE His old associate, L. T. Duldig, was in business at Eudunda as the 

Co. OF agent or representative of the Farmers' Union, which, at the time, 
AUSTRALIA ° r 

LTD. held the agency of the plaintiff Company in South Australia. Ridley 
Evatt J. and Duldig had some conferences. As to these the only evidence 

given was that elicited from Ridley. L. T. Duldig was in Court 

during the trial, but was not called as a witness. The following facts, 

however, were clearly shown :— 

(A) Ridley and Duldig agreed to go around the Eudunda district 

and attack the plaintiff's solvency and stability in order to induce 

its policy-holders, first to surrender their policies or obtain loans 

from the plaintiff upon such security, and then to sign proposals for 

new policies in the defendant Company. 

(B) Ridley offered to Duldig " an agency with the Colonial 

Mutual." Ridley had no authority to do this except pursuant to 

to his own agency agreement, clause 7 of which enabled him to 

employ clerks or servants for the purpose of conducting his agency. 

(C) Ridley agreed to pay Duldig 20 per cent on the first year's 

premiums paid by the proponents, so that, when payment was made. 

Ridley would share his commission of 65 per cent of the premium, 

retaining only 45 per cent of it for himself. 

(D) At the time when Ridley made this arrangement with Duldig 

the latter was unfavourably disposed to the plaintiff Company 

upon grounds personal to himself. But there still existed a fiduciary 

relationship between Duldig and the plaintiff. One witness (C. E. 

Duldig, his brother) says that during the relevant- period Duldig 

was " agent for the Producers and Citizens." But L. T. Duldig 

had some personal grudge against the plaintiff which he was willing 

to satisfy by betraying its interests if, at the same time, he could 

obtain a share of the spoils from Ridley. 
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(E) L. T. Duldig must have resumed some sort of allegiance to H. C. or A. 
1931 

the plaint ill' Company after the campaign of attacking the plaintiffs ^^J 
solvency eot well on its way. W h e n the plaintiff's inspector hurried COLOKIAL 

• 1 , 11 1. M'T' AL 

t,, the district Duldig appears to have trior! to throw all the \AlE 
blame of the affair upon Ridley. In the statement of claim the ' s ^ ^ 

plaintiff alleged that Ridley said to Duldig :—" Y o u should cancel !^D-

your policv with the Producers and Citizens and come around vvith P 
J ' J VND ClTIZl.Ss 

m e to all their policv holders in your district and we Will tell them . , 

that the Company is going insolvent and thev should get out now _\s,',;'pANCK 

while they have the chance. The ( ompany is in an extremely bad J ^ * ^ 

position and [left them because I could see the end of the Company LTD. 

was near." It is obvious that the statement upon which this SvattJ. 

allegation was based was furnished by Duldig to the plaintiff. The 

reason why the plaintiff made no attempt to prove this particular 

slander at t he t rial is also reasonably clear. It would have required 

Duldig's being called as a witness. 

Duldig was jiuriicejis criwinis with Ridley in the publication ot 

the various attacks upon the plaintiff in the Eudunda district. 

Duldig was acquainted with all the persons who wen- interviewed. 

Most, if not all of them, had obtained their policies from tie- plaintiff 

through the agenoy of Ridley or Duldig. These two were i„,th 

using the special knowledge thev possessed hv virti f their 

positions as representatives of the plaintiff, partlv foi 1 he purpose 

of injuring it and partlv for their own personal gain. It is true 

that if the proposals to the defendant had result,-d in new polici. 

the latter would also have gained. Bui neither l'idlev nor Duldig 

eared a jot for the interests of the defendant, and thev were both 

engaged in promoting their own. Whether this makes anv difference 

to the legal liability of the defendant is another ipiestion. But a 

short summary of the exploits of these two persons is revealing:— 

(I) The first m a n seen bv the pair was P. H. 0. Pritzner. This 

was on July 18th, 1930. Ptit /.nor then held a policy with the plaintiff 

for £500, which Ridley had induced him to take out in the year 

L923, W h e n Duldig and Ridley saw him. the interview lasted for 

two hours. Plitzner was induced to sign a proposal form addressed 

to the defendant Conipanv. 
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H. C OF A. (2) On July 24th, 1930, Ridley and Duldig saw J. H. Jenke. He 

HJL" also had a policy in the plaintiff Company, which Ridley and Duldig 

COLONIAL had induced him to take out in the year 1922. A document was 

"Lira1, prepared by Duldig, and Jenke signed it. It was an application 
ASO"CIETYE addressed to " The Secretary " (that is of the plaintiff Company) 

LTD- applying for the " loan value " of Jenke's then policy with the plaintiff. 

PRODUCERS Jenke also signed a proposal for a new policy with the defendant. 

AND CmzEira H e yisited Duidig at the office of the Farmers' Union in Eudunda. 

OPERATIVE 
ASSURANCE 

The defendant Company issued no policy on Jenke's proposal. 

Co. OF (3) T n e n e xt person seen bv the pair in July was L. S. Diener. 
AUSTRALIA " , 

LTD. He also had a policy with the plaintiff for £1,000, which Ridley had 
E ^ U J . effected in 1922. " Duldig," says Diener, " sort of apologized for 

getting m e to join up with such a firm as the Producers and Citizens. 

Duldig did not say what company Ridley then represented, Ridley 

could not speak worse about the Producers and Citizens—said that 

the biggest part of the men in it weren't of much account, and so on. 

Ridley told m e he got out of the Producers and Citizens in New 

South Wales, and he reckoned that the Producers and Citizens 

were likely to go insolvent, and said it was best to get out whilst 

one could get anything out of it, and he said it was best to join up 

with the Colonial." 

The impudent method of canvassing adopted by Duldig and 

Ridley soon reached the ears of the plaintiff Company. On 

September 9th, the Adelaide resident secretary, Mr. J. Lavett, 

wrote to Diener as follows :—" With further reference to m y recent 

call on you, I would now advise having written to Head Office 

requesting duplicate bonus certificate. Immediately this is received 

I will again communicate with you. I trust that the two representa­

tives of another company who recently visited you, have not given 

you any further bother. If so, do not forget to write m e as soon as 

possible. I might mention that after seeing you I visited several 

districts up to Eudunda, and found that the same misrepresentation 

had been made to many other policy-holders. However, the matter 

has been adjusted in every case, and we are pleased to see that you 

all now hold the P. & C. in continued high esteem." 

Lavett's visit to Diener was followed up by another from Ridley. 

He then induced Diener to sign a proposal to the defendant Company, 

but Diener paid no premium with it. 
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h is interesting to observe that the plaintiff did not at this time H- c- 0f *• 
1931 

regard the defendant Company as being legally responsible for the ^_/* 
statements of Duldig and Ridley. It is inconceivable that, had OOU>SIAL 

tie . done BO, thev would not have taken immediate action in the 
Asm I; VM I 

matter. 
(4) The n,-xt holder of a " P. & C." policy visited bv Ridley and l-r" 

Duldig, in July, was .1. ('. A. Weis. The visitors spent about three PRODI 
. . . . . . . A M ) ('ITI7.F N-

hours at Weiss farm I hey made two further visits, and on the <•,,. 
third occasion W'eis signed two pieces of paper which they had '^I,'^V, 

prepared Eor him. One was an application for a loan from the Ocoi 
1 1 * ' Al STB ill \ 

plaintiff, the other a printed application form to the defendant 
Conipanv lor a new policy. The letter from the plaintiff, which Ev»tt J. 

enclosed the loan cheipie. was actually drought to Wri.-'s farm hv 

Duldig and Ridley. W'eis was induced to pav a premium to th,-

defendanl out of the loan nionev. He left all the arrangements to 

Duldig and Ridley. 

(6) The next victim selected was Mark Rice Ridley and Duldig 

Used the names of Diener and W'eis in order to induce Rice to •_ 

a loan from the plaintiff NO as to he free io propose a policy with 

the defendant, On August 12th Rice saw Duldig alone an,I the 

latter prepared a letter for Rice to sign applying for the loan from 

I he plaintiff. Lavett, however, arrived on the Scene, and Rice did 

noi give up his policv with the plaintiff. 

(*'>) 'I'll,- pair next saw 11. A. Ptitzner. a cousin of the Ptitzner 

piw ious|\ mentioned. The date of the visit was August 12th. 

L930. Ridley gave him a form to enable him to obtain the surrender 

value of his policv with the plaintiff. Ptitzner signed it and gave it 

lo Ridley. He also signed a proposal with the defendant hut no 

premium was paid on it by Ptitzner and no policy issued. Lavett 

soon came to Plitzner's rescue and correspondence took place 

between the latter and the plaintiff. Ptitzner was persuaded not 

lo desert from the ranks of policy-holders 

(7) About this time Ridley ami Duldig also saw W'. H. Hage, 

and endeavoured to induce him to transfer from the plaintiff to the 

defendant Company. From Ridley's evidence it appears that the 

main interview took place at Duldiu's office in the town of Eudunda. 

li also appears that Ridley and Duldig were acting in very close 
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co-operation. Hage agreed to apply for a loan on his policy, and 

the necessary document was signed at Duldig's office. Hage also 

signed a proposal to the defendant but paid no premium and got 

no policy. Lavett was quickly on the trail and Ridley and Duldig 

were unsuccessful. 

(8) The next instance is important. The policy-holder seen was 

A. E. Post. This is one of the three occasions where the Supreme 

Court found that an actionable slander of the plaintiff was published 

by Ridley. Ridley and Duldig saw the Posts, father and son, at 

Eudunda in September. Post was minded to drop his policy with 

the plaintiff. But, as a result of the arrival of Lavett, and (soon 

after) of certain bonus certificates, he was persuaded to retain his 

policy. The same system was adopted in this case as in the others 

Ridley and Duldig suggesting that a loan on the existing pohcy 

should be obtained from the plaintiff. A. E. Post said in evidence 

that " There was a branch of the Producers and Citizens at Eudunda. 

Mr. Duldig had that branch, at the Farmers' Union Office." 

(9) The last Eudunda policy-holder of the plaintiff seen by Ridley 

and Duldig was J. H. Niemz. H e was induced to sign a proposal 

to the defendant Company. But Niemz Avas financially embarrassed 

and could not pay the necessary premium. H e was, therefore, 

brought to Duldig's office at Eudunda, where an application for a 

loan from the plaintiff on the existing policy was applied for. Niemz 

was interviewed in September 1930. During the course of the 

interview he asked Duldig for a balance-sheet of the plaintiff Company. 

" I asked Duldig for it," said Niemz, " . . . because Duldig 

had been representing the Producers and Citizens and I thought 

he was then." Not long afterwards Lavett, faint but pursuing, 

visited Niemz. The two slanderers were again put to rout. 

The scene of Ridley's adventurous career now changes to the 

Murray Bridge district. As he had endeavoured to carry out his 

scheme at Eudunda with a confederate's assistance, he followed the 

same method in the new district. H e had been associated with 

one J. H. Lehmann of Murray Bridge as a district agent for the 

plaintiff in 1924-1925. Lehmann had also been a " representative " 

of other insurance companies. In November 1930 Lehmann held 
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Evatt J. 

a policy with the plaintiff. Ridley saw L e h m a n n and old friend- H- c- 0F A-

ships were renewed. H e *' Strongly advised Jack to surrender " his [ ^ 

policv and transfer to the defendant Company. Ridley imputed COXOKIAL 

insolvency lo the ydaintiff, and asked for Lehmann's assistance in Jm*1 

undeceiving the other policy-holders of the plaintiff in the Murrav A7>slT*ANrE 

Bridge district. L e h m a n n undertook to find a m a n named Brook LTI)-

to assist if Ridley could satisfy him as to the truth of his reflection. P B O D T O M S 

on the plaint ill. Ridley told him that he had left the plaintiff, and * 

made a number of slanders upon the personnel of the plaintiff - "1'i;i'vrivJ! 

management. H e induced L e h m a n n to sign a letter to help him Ca OF 
i i - n • ^' 9 T B u , v 

(Kidley) with his office. It was as follows :— Ln,. 
Mr. ll. Ridley, 13th November, man. 

Colonial Mutual OfSoe, Adelaide, S.A. 

Deu Sir, Following onr converHation of a few days ago with reference to the 

probate polioy I have with the Producers and Citizens, I have made certain 
investigations and find that according to tho last report contained in the N.S. H 

Government Gazette that there is little or no prospect ,,f this oompan 
' bonni foi quite a IIUIIIIKT of years and probably not at all. 

I would therefore l><- pleased if vou would give mo a call on pom next vi-.it to 

Murray Bridgejwith theobjeol of transferring the policy 1 hold with the Prodn 
and Citizens to the company you are now representing. 
Thanking you for your attention to this nutter, 

I a m \ ,,iii - 11 uly. 

J. II. 1,,-lnii.iiin. 

Stopping here, it is well to ohserve that Lehmann's Statements 

made in this letter were quite false. His "investigations" had 

heen limited to a perusal of an old New South Wales Government 

Gazette which, according to his own evidence, was not what he 

wanted in order to discover the plaintiff's true position. Lehmann 

signed the original letter and retained a carhon copy for himself. 

Such an act is indicative of deliberation. B e was urged by Ridley 

tO join With him and induce '* the people with w h o m we did hnsiness 

when 1 was here before " to transfer their insurance Imsiness to the 

defendant. L e h m a n n savs that he gave no linal answer. While he 

does not admit that he agreed to eo operate in Ridley's venture, it 

is significant that on November 7th L e h m a n n signed a proposal 

Form with the defendant Company which bears his own n a m e as 

Ridley's agent. Lehmann's story is also inconsistent with his letter 

to the defendant dated November ISth in which he applied to be 

appointed its agent for the .Murrav Bridge district, stating that he 

http://vi-.it
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anticipated obtaining business worth £5,000 per year. Between 

November 18th, when he signed this application, and November 

21st Lehmann was seen by one of the plaintiff's inspectors. On 

the latter date he sent the following letter to Ridley :— 
Murray Bridge, Nov. 21st, 1930. 

Mr. H. C. Ridley, 

Dear Sir,—I very much regret having to advise that I have deemed it advisable 

to refrain from giving you any assistance in your endeavours in this district, and 

must request you to immediately return without delay all documents you may 

have bearing m y signature. I ask you to do this for old associations sake, otherwise 

1 shall have to take steps to protect m y interests. 

M a y I also advise that unhealthy conditions have developed in this district 

since I saw you last. Thanking you for your prompt attention to m y request, 

Yours truly, 

J. H. Lehmann. 

In the course of these interviews with Lehmann, Ridley slandered 

the plaintiff, and the Supreme Court has held the defendant Company 

liable for such publication. But Lehmann himself says that he 

treated the signed proposal for insurance with the defendant as not 

intended to be forwarded for acceptance. " I didn't," he said in 

evidence, " recognize the (defendant) Company up to then." What 

Lehmann in his letter of November 21st was demanding was his 

lying letter of November 13th and the proposal he had signed. I 

think there is little doubt but that he intended to empower Ridley 

to use both for the purpose of decoying other policy-holders of the 

plaintiff. H e was agreeable to taking the risk involved, in con­

sideration of the commission which he hoped to obtain upon an 

appointment as agent of the defendant. After the plaintiff's 

inspector saw him he endeavoured to retrace his steps and try to 

recover from Ridley the damaging documents. " I could not 

remember," Lehmann says, " whether it was on the suggestion of 

the Producers and Citizens that I wrote to Ridley or was entirely 

m y own idea." The only reasonable inference from the evidence is-

that Lehmann became frightened of the danger threatening him 

from the direction of the plaintiff and that when he wrote to Ridley, 

it was at the suggestion of the plaintiff's inspector. 

I have dealt in some detail with the transactions between Ridley 

and Lehmann, not only because it was to Lehmann that one of the 

three slanders deemed actionable was published but also because 
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tle-y show that Lelilna n n I egfl ti led rv i< 11 <• \ a- I li a n ent ej-pri-e H. C. OF A. 

ol his own. In this. Lehniaiui was willing nt first to join. His 1931-

signature on one ot the proposal forms of the defendant C o m p a n y (,„,,MAI. 

not i li.it o| an onlinarv proponent. He lent his name so as to •**"• 

ist in Ridley's attempl to stampede the poBcy-holdeTB of the AIWPRAJ 

plaintiff. LTD. 

In the meantime Ridley had commenced hia .Murrav Bridge I>(;I,„I', 

offensive, The first m a n he saw was ('. Iv Duldig. a brother of his "N" ££**"*• 

coadventurer at Eudunda. L. T. Duldig had written to C. E. anrntam 
Aamra V\. L 

Duldig saying that Ridley would visit him. Ridley induced Duldig O0.01 
I o make ,m application to the plaint ill' for the surrender value in cash 
of his existing policy. Duldig forwarded this application to the 
plaintiff, signed a proposal form of the defendant's and gave the 
letter to Ridley, A lew days later .Mr. Lavett. the resident secretary 

ol the plaintiff, arrived. ('. Iv Duldig was persuaded bo change his 

mind, and he kepi his policv with the plaintiff. N o policy wa- issued 

to him by the defendant, nor did he pay anv premium in respect of 

his proposal. 

The last person seen hv Ridley before bis disappearance from the 

Murray Bridge district was Iv W . Pearson. The appellant Company 

has ;,|M, been adjudged responsible for a slander uttered to Pearson 

by Ridley in November 1930, Pearson had a £1,000 policj with 

the plaintiff which Ridley and Lehmann had effected some years 

before. Ridley showed him a lisl of policy holders m the Eudunda 

district who were "leaving" the plaintiff. The names of Pntznei 

and Duldig were on the list. He also showed him the untrue letter 

from Lehmann to which I have alreadv referred. Pearson's faith 

in the plaintiff was shaken hy Ridley, Put Lavett and 1.,-hinann. 

who was a personal friend of Pearson, appealed on the scene and 

Ridley was again checkmated. 

The plaintiff Companv savs that the defendant is responsible in 

law for the three actionable slanders published by Ridley to Post. 

Lehmann and Pearson, in the circumstances described. The 

defendant does not dispute that Ridley did obtain and use its 

proposal forms, and. in answer to interrogatories, it also admitted 

that when Ridley *' interviewed " tlie policy-holders of the plaintiff 

in tie- Eudunda and Murrav Bridge districts, he did so "in the 

http://li.it
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course of carrying o u t " an agreement to which reference will be 

made. The plaintiff also relies strongly on the following part of 

Ridley's cross-examination:— 
Q. Wasn't it a part of your employment to secure proposals for insurance 

with the Colonial Mutual ? 

A. Yes—that was pretty well my whole duty. When I went around to 

see the various witnesses that have appeared in Court I went round to see 

them in the course of m y employment and for that purpose. 

Q. Was, whatever it was you said to them, said in the course of your 

employment ? 

Mr. Thompson objects. Question not pressed. 

It was in order to secure insurance business for the Colonial Mutual that 

I interviewed those people. 

Q. Everything you said to them was to gain those ends—that is, to get 

them to take up policies with the Colonial Mutual ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. As long as you did it fairly would you make comparisons glorifying your 

own Company and belittling your competitors 1 

A, Yes—make a comparison ; for the purpose of securing business for my 

Company. 

But none of the answers thus extracted from Ridley conclude the 

question of the defendant's responsibility for the three slanders. 

W h a t matters is what Ridley said and the circumstances and the 

capacity in which he spoke ; not the mere fact that he " interviewed " 

the plaintiff's policy-holders in the performance of a certain agree­

ment, and, still less, Ridley's o w n opinion of the authority he was 

then exercising. Were his criticisms of the plaintiff uttered in the 

course of an employment of him by the defendant ? Did the 

defendant slander the plaintiff by the agency or instrumentality of 

a person sufficiently invested with its authority ? W a s the voice 

to which the Posts listened in the streets of Eudunda and which 

Lehmann and Pearson heard at Murray Bridge the voice of the 

defendant Company '( 

It is said that the decision of the Judicial Committee in Citizens' 

Life Assurance Co. v. Brown (1) determines the question of liability 

against the defendant. That was an action of libel in which an 

assurance company was held responsible for the publication of a 

circular letter to certain persons insured with it. The circular was 

sent by a m a n named Fitzpatrick. A canvasser named Brown, 

while in the service of a rival insurance company, visited the 

(1) (1904) A.C. 423. 
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defendanl company's policy-holders and made statements derogatory H- c- or A-
1 r131 

toil Pit /.pat rick was t In- company's " Superintendent of Agencies." . J 
lb had to devote his w hole time to furthering the company's business. COLOHIAL 

IP w.is paid £5 a wees and also commission on all policies procured jjIf}. 

by him. There waa evidence thai his authority i I "to 

Secure Imsiness and save 1. 11:-. i,,, . and to visit poliev-holders whose ['TI' 
v. 

policies bave lapsed or are likely to lapse." The jury was held to P 
• I 1 -1 l 1 • • f 1 • • r I.Ml 

be entitled to consider the necessities of tne case arising from the 
size and nature of the district placed under Fitzpatrick'ssupervision 
.md what would naturaIlv he done m the colony by a person iii his ' " 

* ' * Al s-IRM.| V 

position" (I). Kity.patrick was not authorized to write libels or l/n>. 
" to do anything legally wrong," but this was held not to exempt Evatt J. 
I be master Erom liability " if I he act is done in the course of employ 

menl which is aul horized " (2). 

In these circumstances the Privy Council refused to disturb the 

implied finding of the jurj thai it was ""within the scope of 

Fitzpatrick's authority and employment " (per Lord Lindley (3)) 

"to write to policy holders in order to count eracl the mischief which 

Brown waa doing to the hnsiness of the company." 

Lut no new principle of law was decided in Hum, • (\). 

Liability in reaped of a servant's committing the tori of libel was 

imputed to the master because the circumstances were capable of 

supporting the inference that the libel was published in the 0OU1 

of th,- servant's employment, and the jury drew Buch inference of 

lad. Fitzpatrick's position was of a special character. That 

occupied by Ridley in the present case did not resemble Kit/.patrick's. 

Ridley's position is much more akin to that of the canvasser Brown 

in the Citizens1 Life Assurance Co. v. Brown. But the Citizens' 

Life Assurance Company never attempted to proceed against the rival 

assurance company for damages in respect of Brown's slanders. And 

it is noticeable that Stephen J., whose judgment in the Court below (5) 

met with the approval of the Privy Council, said of Fitzpatrick :— 

" I do not agree with the jury that he was put in the position to do 

t hat class of act. But t hey found t hat he was. and I do not think that 

we can disturb their finding. Possibly the jury might have inferred 

(1904) A C . m P. 427. (3) (1904) \ < . .,. v. 42& 
(1904) A.v.. ut pp, 127-428, (A) (1904) A.c. 4.'3. 

(8) (1902) 2 s.C. (N.S.W.) 202. 



62 HIGH COURT [1931, 

H. C. OF A. f r o m the fact that Fitzpatrick was the superintendent of agencies, he 

v _ ^ had authority to do this class of act " (f). 

(COLONIAL That Citizens' Life Assurance Co. v. Brown (2) merely illustrates a 

LITE general principle is shown by the case of Glasgow Corporation v. 

^SOCIETV E Lorimer (3). There the House of Lords decided that the corporation 
LTD- was not liable for certain slanders uttered by one of its tax collectors. 

PRODUCERS The duties of the collector included the collection of the assessment 

Co- payable by the pursuer's husband and the granting of receipts 

ASSURANCE therefor. W h e n the pursuer tendered payment of a sum of money 

Co. OF as Tne b a ] a n c e (JUe to the corporation, the collector demanded 
AUSTRALIA X 

LTD. previous receipts. These the pursuer produced. The collector 
Evattj. called again and charged the pursuer with having fraudulently 

altered the receipt and repeated the slander in the h o m e of a neighbour. 

Lord Loreburn L.C. said :—" I do not think it is good law to say 

that the corporation is bound by anything said by one of its servants 

which is connected with the business of that servant. The question 

is whether or not there is any authority to communicate on behalf 

of the corporation any comment or statement of opinion at all " (4). 

The facts of the present case show7 that in making his slanderous 

statements Ridley was largely pursuing his o w n ends and gratifying 

his o w n spleen against the Co m p a n y which had dismissed him. 

But it is contended that these fact6 are entirely irrelevant to the 

question of the defendant Company's liability. It is true that 

Lloyd v. Grace Smith & Co. (5) determines that a principal or master 

m a y be responsible for the tort of his agents or servants if they are 

acting within the course of their agency or service, although in 

committing the tort they are acting for the benefit of themselves 

and not for the benefit of their principal or master. That decision 

of the House of Lords affirmed the responsibility of a solicitor for 

the fraud of a person w h o was left " in supreme c o m m a n d " of one 

department of the business. It did not decide that in cases of torts 

like defamation and assault the motive of the servant or agent may 

not be a factor of considerable importance in ascertaining the 

master's liability. 

(1) (1902) 2 S.R. (X.S.W.), at p. 214. (3) (1911) A.C. 209. 
(2) (1904) A.C. 423. (4) (1911) A.C, at p. 215. 

(5) (1912) A.C 716. 
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What was emphasized in Lloyd's Case (I) was that a principal H- A-
1911 

or master is not absolved from liabilitv " whenever his agent intended . J 
to appropriate foi himself the proceeds of his fraud" (per Earl COSUOSTIAL 

Loreburn (2) ). Lord Macnaghten , tpressly approved the doctrine |.„K 

hud down by Willes J. in Baiu'iel.'s Case (8) thai responsibility '^B^'"i 

attaches to the master "lor every such wrong of the servant or ''r" 

agenl as is oommitted in t he course of the service and for the master's ' 

benefit . . . ." (4). Lord Macnaghten added that it i < ,,. 

very differenl proposition to say that the master is not answerable 

for the wrong of the servant or agent, committed in the course of 
Al STRA 1.1 4 

bhe service, if it be not commit ted t <. r- bhe master's benefit II ill* • .1. '.n>-
'Iocs not, I think, sav anything ol the kind" (5). It i a Kui, J, 

very different proposition " to declare that the object or motive of 

a servant m committing a borl cannot be a relevant factor m determin­

ing his master's liability for such tort. 

In the later case of Percy \. Glasgow Corporation (<',) th,- action 

was lor damages for the *' wrongous detention " of the plaintiff l>\ 

a conductor ami inspector employed in th,- defendant's braznwa) 

service. Viscount Finlay mid: " The classical 

to ipiestions of this kind is t,, i„- found in a judgmenl given l>\ 

Willes .1. in Bayley v. Manchester, Sheffield nml Lincolnshin Railway 

Co. (7) which is quoted III Pollock's /.aw "f Torts, Nth ed . p 9] 

and was read in the course of the argument, It is this: ' Lpets 

who puts another in his place bo do a class oi acts in Ins absea 

necessarily leaves him to determine, according t" tie' circumstam 

I hat arise, w hen an act of t hat class is to he done, and t rust, him for 

the manner in which it is done : and consequently he is held answer -

able for the wrong of t h,> person so entrusted either in the manner 

of doing such an act, or in doing such an act under circunistan. 

in which it ought not to have been done : provided that what was 

done was done, not from any caprice of the servant, but in the course 

of the employment ' " (8). 

The last sentence of Willes J.'s statement shows that in certain 

cases t he fact t hat an act is done Irom a servant's caprice mav prove 

that it is not done in the course of his employment. 

(1) (1912) A.C. Till. (6) (III!-'! \.C. at p. 734 
(2) (1912) A.C, al p. 7. (<>) (1922) 2 A.C. 290, 
<:i) (1867) I..K. 2 Ex 26a 1872] I.i:. 7GP.413,at p 420 
ID (1867) l..lt. 2 Ex., at ,,. 265. (8) (1922) 2 A.c. .,t pp, 307-308 
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H. c. OF A. j n Lirnpus v. London General Omnibus Co. (1) the question of a 

J^J servant's motive in doing a tortious act was discussed by Blackburn 

COLONIAL J. (as he then was). H e was dealing with the suggestion that the 
JVITJTUAL 

LIFE defendant omnibus company was not liable for driving its omnibus 
ASOC7IETYF across tne roa<i in front of the rival omnibus of the plaintiff and 

LTD. overturning the latter. Speaking of the trial Judge's summing-up, he 

PRODUCERS said (2) : — " H e points out that, if the jury were of opinion ' that the 

Co- true character of the act of the defendants' servant was that it was 

ASSURANCE
 a n ac* or" n^s o w n anc^ in order to effect a purpose of his own, the 

Co. OF defendants were not responsible.' That meets the case which I 
AUSTRALIA r 

LTD. have already alluded to. If the jury should come to the conclusion 
Evatt J. that he did the act, not to further his masters' interest or in the 

course ot his employment, but from private spite, and with the 

object of injuring his enemy, the defendants were not responsible. 

That removes all objection, and meets the suggestion that the jury 

m a y have been misled by the previous part of the summing-up." 

In m y opinion it is open to the tribunal which has to determine 

the question of fact whether a servant's publication of a libel or 

slander took place in the course of his employment to pay regard 

to all the surrounding circumstances of the case, by no means 

excluding the motive of the servant in defaming the third party. 

If the defamation is published for the purpose of gratifying the 

personal or private ill will of the servant, that is a circumstance 

which tells against a finding that the publication was in the course 

of the servant's employment. In Aiken v. Caledonian Railway 

Co. (3) Lord Salvesen pointed out, in reference to the Citizens' 

Life Assurance Co. v. Brown (4), that, " the writer of the letter had 

no object of his own to serve. His purpose was to counteract the 

mischief which the plaintiff, a former employee, was doing to the 

business of the company " (5). 

Of course the presence of malice in the servant does not, of itself, 

operate to free the master from liability. And if, notwithstanding 

such malice, it is found that the servant has defamed in the course 

of the employment, the established fact of mabce m a y in certain 

(1) (1862) 1H. &C 526; 158E.R. 993. (3) (1913) S.C (Ct, of Sess.) 66. 
(2) (1862) 1 H. & C, at p. 543; (4) (1904) A.C. 423. 

158 E.R., at p. 1000. (5) (1913) S.C. (Ct. of Sess.), at p. 76. 
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oircumstsnces operate to m a k e the master responsible in a sense 

not merely for the publication itself but also for his servant's malice. 

A n illustration of this further point is Citizens' Life Assurance Co. COLOHIAL 

M U T V \I. 

lirown (1) itself, for Fitzpatrick's express malice a train -t Brown LIFE 

was deemed sufficienl to rebul the defence of qualified privilege (2). * SOCIETY 

liut before the master can In- held responsible for the malicious tort LTD 

<,l a -i-ivant the ipiestion whether the act w a s in law that of the 1'KODCCEB* 
, I , r -i • , i i t i A N I > Crroa tra 

m a t e r , whether the master performed it (to use the phrase of the i ,,. 

c o m m o n law pleading) " b y himself, his servants and agent-"' ^ 8 S l H A j ; C E 

must first he determined. For such purpose, the motive of the Co. O F 
1 1 \l -THALIA 

servant will often be of importance. LTD. 
The relationship existing between Ridley and th,- appellant at tv„,t j. 

ihe tine- of the slanderous publications was that specified in a 

written agreement. It is dated N o v e m b e r 20th, 1930 I' i- said 

to brin c o m m o n form. Although some, it not all. ,,t t h>- slanderous 

statements were m a d e by Ridley before November 20th, both 

parties ha\ e accepted the posit ion t hat the agreemenl was m force 

during the whole of the relevanl period. 

The agreemenl described Hidley as the appellant- "a^ent." 

The C o m p a n y agreed to pay him certain scheduled rat,- ,,f comnUS-

sion, " o n proposals hearing his signature as introdui ing aL'ent, such 

pavment to be held to include and cover all charges and ,-\p,-n-

lor postage, or any ot her account whatever." The agent was entitled 

lo receive inonevs on hehalf of the Society (clans,- 7). H e was 

hound to pay them over to the Society within IN hours of their 

receipt (clause 2). The duties of the agenl could In- performed 

cither by himself personally or " by his clerks or servants.'' and the 

agent was entitled to engage in any other business or occupation 

except that of acting "directly or indirectly" for anv other life 

assurance society (clause 7). The agency was terminable bv either 

party upon the giving oi seven days' written notice (clause 8). The 

agent w as prohibited from pledging the Society's credit without 

express written authority, and he undertook that he would not- " in 

anv circumstances whatsoever use language or write anything 

respecting any person or institution which m a y have the effect of 

reflecting on the character, integrity or conduct of such person or 

(1) (1904) A.c 12a |2) |ll»04) A.C. at p. (SS, 
voi. \i.\ i. :, 
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H. C. OF A. institution or which m a y tend to bring the same into disrepute or 

"_,' discredit " (clause 1). 

COLONIAL This last stipulation is of considerable importance. At first glance 

LIFE if m a y suggest that the agent is free to criticize other persons or 

SOCIETY E institutions so long as he keeps within the bounds of the law of libel 
LTD- and slander. If so, an inference m a y readily be drawn that the 

PRODUCERS stipulation impliedly allows, and even authorizes, the agent to 
AND CITIZENS . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . 

Co- criticize the relative stability ot rival assurance companies and to 
ASSURANCE c o m m e i l t upon their methods of management, so long as he does 
Co. OF n ot make untrue statements or unfair comment. The next step 

AUSTRALIA r 

LTD. of the argument is that libellous or slanderous statements or comments 
Evatt j. belong to the same kind or class of statements and comments as 

those the publication of which is authorized. Barwick v. English 

Joint Stock Bank (f) and Limpus v. London General Omnibus Co. 

(2) are then invoked in order to show that a prohibition like clause 1 

is of no avail to protect the master or principal against actions of 

defamation at the suit of a third party in respect of the defamatory 

publications of his servant or agent. 

The first answer to this chain of argument is that the undertaking 

of the agent which is contained in clause 1 is by no means limited 

to the publication of libels or slanders. The words and writings 

he agrees not to publish are those which " may," not merely those 

which do, reflect upon character, integrity or conduct; those wiiich 

" may," not merely those which do, injure reputation or credit. 

The agent is not even allowed to attack a rival institution upon 

occasions when a defence of his principal is or seems to him to he 

called for. The prohibition operates " in any circumstances what­

soever." There is little or no criticism of another institution of 

which it cannot be said that it " m a y " convey some injurious 

reflection or " m a y " have a tendency to discredit it in the opinion 

of readers or listeners. Even if observations of a critical character 

can be legally justified as fair comment, such defence assumes that 

the publication to which it relates is defamatory of the plaintiff. 

The fair intendment of the clause is that the agent is forbidden 

from pubUshing any criticisms of other persons or institutions. 

May he compare the solvency or stability of his principal with that 

(1) (1867) L.R. 2 Ex. 2.59. (2) (1862) 1 H. & C. 526; 158 E.R. 993. 
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of other societies ' No, because such comparison may impute to H ' "' A-

the rival insolvency or instability or something closely akin thereto. . , 

Mav he state disparaging Eacts about the rival if they are true? COLONIAL 
M U T U \ I 

Xo ; in some States of the Commonwealth truth is a defence to an " JJIFE 

action for defamation, but disparagement whether true or false is SOCIETY* 

forbidden. Must the words or writings which the agent m a y not LTD 

publish be such M would, if pubbshed, support an action [ Xo, PBODUCERS 
\\u CITIZENS 

because bhe prohibition is designed to prevent the publication of' i ,,. 
.anything that can possibly be regarded as reflecting on individuals *̂ v'7; 
01 corporation-. The slightest comparison between the benefits , c" 

1 . AlSTBALIA 

offered by rival societies and by the principal brings in the subject LTI>. 

of the relative security of the societies. To say that the security i...,,, j. 

afforded by bhe assets of bhe rival is " not as good " is an implied 

criticism. To say that "the security of Company A B is oof as 

good" is close t,, saying " C o m p a n y A B is relatively insecure." 

The policy Becker's first requirement is "assurance" or security. 

It is possible—theoretically—for an agent to praise the rival 

company and praise his own principal more. But to praise Eaintiy 

may be to damn. The reasonable const nut i, I clause I is that 

no criticisms of anv kind an- to In- mad,- upon rival Companies. 

The practical result is to prevent the agenl from indulging in 

comparisons. 

Hut it is also said that Ridley was authorized by the agreement 

to use all methods oJ " persuasion " adapted or calculated to induce 

persons to effecl policies of insurance with the defendant, and that 

such "'class of acts" necessarily included the making of busini 

comparisons hetween the defendanl and other insurance companies. 

I oncurrently with t his is advanced the argument t hat no prohibition 

of specified acts within the class of authorized acts can exempt a 

master from liability for the tort of slander if the servant ignoi-

t he prohibition. 

The questions of "authorized class ,,t acts" and "effective 

prohibitions" are related. It is difhoull to suppose that a master 

who puts another in his place to do a class of act in his absence 

can never define or delimit such " class of act." Indeed the verv 

first question that arises in applying the ""classical passage" of 

WUles .1. is : What is the authorized class of acts ! It is fallacious 
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H. c. OF A. t 0 assert that, as a matter of law and despite everything contained 
1931 
^J in his contract of service, every person who is sent out to prospective 

COLONIAL customers to procure orders for his master's goods, is empowered 

LIFE to utter criticisms upon the goods and the business methods of 

SociETyE those who are in competition with his master. W h y is it that 
LTD- liability has so seldom been visited upon an employer for slanders 

PRODUCERS published by a person who is employed to " canvass " for orders ? 

Co- Criticism of rival trading interests which comes from such a source 

ASSOKINCT: ^s n o t °ften regarded as the publication of defamatory matter by 

Co. OF the master. Often it consists of mere puffing comparisons. But if 
AUSTRALIA X 

LTD. it assumes a more serious character, the person listening usually 
Evatt i. regards what is said as a comment of the canvasser's own. It is 

one thing to affirm liability of the master to the person canvassed 

for representations sufficiently related to the proposed contract. 

It is a very different thing to hold the master responsible to third 

persons in respect of defamatory comments made by a canvasser 

in reference to B upon the occasion of his negotiating a proposed 

contract with A. W h a t the canvasser is then doing is more accurately 

described as dissuasion by means of defamation, than as persuasion 

by means of laudation. 

In m y opinion the employment of a canvasser m a y be limited to 

the performance of a class of acts which excludes the utterance of 

any criticism upon his master's business rivals. The obvious 

method of limiting such employment is to insert in the contract 

some such clause as that contained in clause 1 of Ridley's agreement. 

The prohibition must do more than forbid the servant from publishing 

libels or slanders. The class of acts excluded should be stated more 

broadly so as to include in the prohibition all criticism of third 

parties by the servant. 

Limpus's Case (1) is not inconsistent with this view. The directions 

contained in the card handed by the master to the omnibus driver 

were treated, not as effectually limiting the employment to a separate 

class of acts but merely as requiring that, in the course of the employ­

ment, there should be no negligence or reckless driving. " The act 

of driving as he did," said Willes J., "is not inconsistent with his 

employment, when explained by his desire to get before the other 

(1) (1862) 1 H. & C, 526; 158 E.R. 993. 
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cmnibut (1). Jenks bas observed that the prohibition considered 

in Limpus's ('use rather suggested the analogy of " Don't nail 

his ear.- to th,- pump " (Book of English Lou-, p. i p. 

There is a distinction between the condition attached to clause I 

of Ridley's agreement and a command by an employer to a servant 

that he must not commit a tortious act by defaming or assaulting 

oz driving negligently. Clause I was a genuine prohibition, and in 

m y opinion it operated to prevent the coming into existence of any 

authority on Ridley's part to speak or write any criticisms or 

disparagement Of others, whether defamatory or not and whether 

actionable or not. 

So far 1 have dealt with this case upon the basis that Ridley was 

u servant of the defendant. There is little or no evidence that he 

was a. servant. H e seems to have had a very free hand. The 

contract describes him as an "agent." The more reasonable 

inference from the contract and all the surrounding circumstances 

ia that Ridley, although authorized by the defendant to procure 

oilers for insurance from members of the public, was engaged in the 

business of insurance agent on his own account. If SO, it wa- in 

the course of his own business that he spoke th,- slanders deemed 

actionable. 

I have reached the conclusion that the appellant is nut liable 

for the three slanders published hv Ridley, even on the assumption 

t hat Ridley's relation to the appellanl was t hat of servant to master. 

It was within his province to interview and negotiate. But criticism 

ol other c o m p a n i e s w a s " put outside the range ot his service hv a 

genuine prohibition." (Cf. Humes v. Nunnery Colliery Co. (2): 

Plumb V. Cobden Flour Mills Co. (*!.).) He not onlv criticized. 

but systematically defamed and slandered. What he did was 

"different in kind from anything he was required or expected to 

do." (Cf. Barnes's Case; Plumb's Case.) 

I also think that Ridley acted from spite and malice when he 

combined with Duldig at Kudunda and attempted to combine with 

Lehmann at Murrav Bridge in order to seduce policy-holders away 

B. a oi A. 
1H31. 
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LTD. 
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(h (1862) 1 11. ,\ i , ,, ,,[,. .-,;i!i-.->-iO; 
158 K !*.. at p. 998. 

(2) (1912) A.c H. ,u ,, 47. 
(8) ,lfH4i A C ,12. at T>. (IT. 
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Evatt J. 

from their allegiance to the plaintiff. I think that he was acting 

on his own account and for his own benefit. Even if the prohibition 

of clause 1 had not been in the contract, the proper inference of fact 

is that when Ridley slandered the plaintiff he was not acting in the 

course of any employment, although one result of his scheme of 

defamation would or might have been to benefit the defendant. 

And if, as I also consider, Ridley was not a servant of the appellant 

Company, the same conclusion follows. Either he was pursuing 

his own agency business or he was acting outside any authority 

conferred upon him by the defendant. 

The appeal should be allowed and the judgment for £1,000 

damages set aside, and judgment entered for the appellant. 

M C T I E R N A N J. I agree with m y brother Evatt that the appeal 

should be allowed. 

The agreement which was entered into between the appellant 

and Ridley describes him as " the agent," but it does not expressly 

define the things which he was authorized to perform as the 

agent of the appellant. In m y opinion it is not consistent with 

the terms of the agreement to say that the word " agent" in 

the agreement signifies only that Ridley is a person conducting the 

business of an insurance agent on his own account, and does not 

signify the existence of the relationship of principal and agent 

between the appellant and him. The evidence, moreover, does not 

warrant the inference that Ridley w7as in the position of a servant 

of the appellant. In saying this I do not imply, if such were his 

position, that upon the facts of this case, which have been reviewed 

by m y brother Evatt and his examination of the nature of the 

prohibition contained in the first clause of the agreement, the 

appellant would be liable for the slanders which w7ere uttered by 

Ridley. 

It is clear that the appellant did not expressly authorize Ridley 

to slander the respondent or any other company or person. In 

fact, it made the prohibition which has been discussed in the judgment 

of m y brother Evatt, a term of its agreement with Ridley. Despite 

the absence of any express authorization to do the act by w7hich the 

respondent is aggrieved and the presence of the prohibition which 
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include- that act within its scope, the appellant would be liable for H- '• "' A-

t he publication hv Ridley of the slanders, which he has been proved . J 

to have published, if that act were done in exercising the authority I OLOHIAL 

with which Ridley was entrusted by the appellant. The fact that Lira 

it wa: an abuse of that authority would not relieve the appellant * SOCIETY 

of liability. What was that authority ? It was not, of course, to LTTI' 

do everything which the appellant itself could do or might have PHODUCTBH 

authorized to he done in its name. It was a limited authority. i 

The effect of the agreement, in m y opinion, was that Ridley became A s s r n M , 

the agenl of the appellant, by w h o m it would find persons w ho ' " 
. \ 1 > f 1". \ I.I A 

wanted to insure with it, and by w h o m the appellant would solicit LTD. 
persons to become willing to insure with it and would obtain proposals McTiormo J. 

from such persons for acceptance or rejection by the appellant. It 

follows that Ridley would be acting within the scope of his authority. 

for example, when, in search of proponents for insurance, he -poke 

io people of the appeUant Company, its business and its policies. 

lb' would he acting in the course of that authority if he made any 

false statement about those matters or said anything concerning 

t hem. which he was not expressly authorized to say or was forhidden 

to say. Hut I do not agree in the view that in defaming the reepon-

dent he was exercising the authority which he held as the representa­

tive of the appellant. To hold that a person in the position of 

Ridley was acting in the course of the authority with which he was 

entrusted by t he appellanl when he pubbshed any one of the slander-. 

which the learned Judge found, would involve the result that a 

person authorized hv an insurance company to obtain business for 

it. has authority to persuade persons from w h o m he i- seeking 

proposals for insurance to make them by criticizing the soundness 

of any other insurance conipanv. In m v view such an agenl ha­

il uthority to rely upon the merits of the company which he represents. 

but has no authority to criticize any other company for the purpose 

of obtaining business for his own companv. There is nothing in the 

agreemenl which leads m e to the conclusion that the criticism of 

any other company was a function pertaining to the canvasser 

Ridley, as the representative of the appellant. Speaking of the 

scope of the authority of the tax collector for whose slanders it was 

sought to make the corporation liable. Lord Shaw of Dunfermline 
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H i93i>F A sa^> m Glasgow Corporation v. Lorimer (1) : "If, however, it were 

^ ^ to be held that persons in the ordinary and comparatively humble 

COLONIAL position of this officer were within the scope of their employment 

LIFE in expressing opinions as to the conduct of those with w h o m they 

SOCIETY have dealings in the course of doing their work, the consequences 

might be of the most serious character, and the essential justice 

PRODUCERS W } U C ] 1 underlies the maxim qui facit per alium facit per se would 
A N D CITIZENS ± J ± J J 

Co- disappear." 
ASSURANCE The sense and reason of this statement, in m y opinion, tends 
AUSTRALIA, towards the rejection of the view that criticism of other companies 

LTD- was one of the instruments which the appellant had authorized 

McTiernan J. Ridley to employ for the purpose of getting business for it. In 

uttering these slanders, I do not think he was merely abusing an 

authority with which he was invested. M y conception of his 

authority leads m e to the conclusion that he spoke as Ridley, not 

as Ridley the representative of the appellant. The facts of this case 

are quite different from the facts in Citizens' Life Assurance Co. v. 

Brown (2). The publication of the slanders, though not capable of 

being referred, in m y view, as a matter of law, to the exercise by 

Ridley of the authority with which he was entrusted, can be explained 

by the facts which have been so thoroughly reviewed by m y brother 

Evatt, These facts reinforce the view that Ridley did not speak 

in his right as the representative of the appellant when he defamed 

the respondent. 

Appeal dismissed with costs. 

Solicitors for the appellant, Browne, Rymill, Stevens <& Mathew. 

Solicitor for the respondent, F. G. Hicks. 

H. D. W. 

(1) (1911) A.C, at p. 210. (2) (1<J04) A.C. 423. 


